Capitol-Medical Center Improvement and Zoning Commission
August 28, 2009







8:15 a.m.

Will Rogers 102/04

Minutes

Members Present


Members Absent

Others Present
John Richard, Chairman

Wayne Reid


Debra Schwartz

Joshua Greenhaw


Reginald Johnson

Scott Boughton

Anita Hood

Ginger McGovern

Russell Claus

Paul Manzelli

Tiana Douglas

Chairman Richard called the meeting to order and after Roll Call stated the Minutes would be deferred. 
Item 3:

Request by MidFirst Bank for building permit authorizing the installation of a temporary sign at NE 8th Street and Geary Avenue on the grounds of the Oklahoma Blood Institute at 901 and 1001 N. Lincoln Boulevard.

Ms. Martin said the Blood Institute was constructing a new building on the south side of the site. She said the Institute opted to install a for lease sign instead of a construction that was located near the intersection of NE 8th Street and Lincoln Boulevard. Ms. Martin said the bank was requesting permission to install a temporary sign near the corner of NE 8th Street and Geary Avenue. She said the temporary plywood sign measured 4’ x 8’ and stated “Coming Soon MidFirst Bank” with the bank logo. Ms. Martin said the probable date of completion was April of 2010 and they wanted to keep the sign until that time. Mr. Johnson asked if the sign met the regulations requirement. Ms. Martin said yes. Mr. Claus made a motion to approve the request. Mr. Johnson seconded. A vote was called and the motion carried unanimously. 
Item 4:

Report on Miscellaneous Alleged Zoning Violation at 715 NE 20th Street: Geraldine Keels, Property Owner.
Ms. Martin said there were 2 members of the Board of Review at the meeting who both attend the last Board meeting when a request was made to bring this issue back before the Commission as a request to issue its Order for compliance. She said to give the Commission the opportunity to see the structure prior to its decline she provided photograph of the structure between 1978 and 2009. Ms. Martin said the Commission issued its first Notice in 2007 and the Board was concerned about the structure deteriorating condition and if something was not done quickly the structure may be loss. 
Ms. Martin said the Citizen’s Advisory Committee also discussed this issue and agreed with the Board. Chairman Richard said Ms. Keels had not been successful in obtaining funds to improve the property and the issue continues on the Agenda. The Chairman said the question was what overt action could be taken and what was next step the Commission 

Minutes

Zoning Commission

August 28, 2009

Page 2

could pursue. Chairman Richard asked Ms. Schwartz to present an overview of the steps open to the Commission and how they should proceed. The Chairman said the situation was very difficult for Ms. Keels and the Commission needed to know what options were available. 

Ms. Schwartz said the Landmark Board of Review would have to make a formal recommendation to the Commission and she understood that was scheduled for the Board’s next meeting. She said Ms. Martin drafted a proposed Order finding for the violation stating the exact rules. Ms. Schwartz said once the Board made its recommendation and findings at the next meeting the Commission would have a hearing. She said the hearing would be a trial type procedure where testimony would be taken, evidence submitted, and a record created. Ms. Keels and her representatives would state their case and once all the facts and evidence was presented, then the Commission would vote to do what it wants to do and the next logical steps would be to ask the Attorney General as per the Commission’s Statute to take this to the Municipal Court. Ms. Schwartz said per the Commission’s Statute it would include $75.00 in fines everyday that the violation continues as well as injunctive powers to force compliance. 

Chairman Richard asked Ms. Schwartz to explain injunctive powers. Ms. Schwartz said it meant to abate what’s happening and not let it go any further. Chairman Richard asked what resources would the Commission use to abate the situation. Ms. Schwartz said whatever the Commission asked for or whatever the Court decides to make the deterioration cease. Chairman Richard said if the case were Ms. Keels didn’t have the resources to make the deterioration stop what then becomes the option. Ms. Schwartz said then she would be in violation of the Order and fines would mount and the ultimate could perhaps be putting a lien on the property. 

Chairman Richard asked if once the courts were involved did the City have any mechanisms for taking a property and placing it on the market for sale if there are no resources. Mr. Claus said no they didn’t sell property, they use the injunctive action but very rarely, their only option was to demolish the property. He said that was not a preferred action. Chairman Richard said the intention would be to see the home restored. Mr. Claus said that was correct and it really came down to the private property owner making the decision that they do not have the resources to maintain the property, and to sell it and to use those funds to secure a property that they are able to afford. He said the City could not force that action other than through injunctive process. 
Ms. Douglas asked if through Preservation Oklahoma or some non profit group or entity that could step in and stabilize the property and put a lien on it. She said something similar to what the County does when taxes are not paid where you have about 3 years to either pay the taxes and get the title back or the property becomes the County’s and its auction off. Mr. Claus said Preservation Oklahoma was primarily an educational advocacy group and he was not aware they had resources to do something of that nature. Ms. Martin said of all the entities that 

Minutes

Zoning Commission

August 28, 2009

Page 3

have the resources the finance small project and this property was to the extent that they can’t help. Ms. Douglas said what she was talking about at this point was stabilizing the property because it appears to be everybody’s goal to keep it from deteriorating. Ms. Martin said she thought the Board would be willing to work with Ms. Keels if the house were stabilized. Ms. Hood said she saw advertisement from a gentleman at KFOR.com who constructed and repaired homes. She said however, she imagined in this case there was too much money involved but it may be worth pursuing. 
Chairman Richard said it appeared that to stabilization of the property would mean a major roof repair at approximately $20 to $25,000, then there were several windows needing to be replaced and he suspected  would be another $20,000. He said those were the 2 things that needed to be stabilize immediately. Chairman Richard asked Ms. Keels if she ever considered that she could not afford to keep the property. Ms. Keels said she kept up the property when she was there but the squirrels decided to destroy it. She said she went to Habitat for Humanities and they talked like they might help her and gave her an application and that was her option right now. Ms. Keels said she did find a person to repair the roof for $9,000 but she didn’t have the money. Chairman Richard said the house was in a condition now that a delay of months would cost additional thousands and some people had to come to a conclusion at a certain point that this was not a home they could afford. He said she would have to look at her economic condition at some point. Chairman Richard asked Ms. Keels if she understood the Commission was on the verge of taking action that could be a very expensive proposition. Ms. Keels said she understood. 

Mr. Greenhaw asked if the property was free and clear and asked Ms. Keels if she had explored borrowing money against it. Ms. Keels said she went to the bank and was told she could get some money but there were several things asked for like flood insurance and she was also told her age was a factor. Mr. Greenhaw asked Ms. Keels if she’d heard of a Reverse Mortgage. Ms. Keels said yes, but she didn’t know how it worked. Ms. Greenhaw asked if they could get her some information about Reverse Mortgages that may be something that could help her out. Chairman Richard said that was a possibility. Ms. Keels said this was all new to her and she never had to do anything like this before. 
Ms. Douglas said based on the numbers that were in the staff report a Reverse Mortgage should provide funds that were at least sufficient to stabilize the house. Mr. Greenhaw said it may not be the best solution for her but it was better than having the property demolished. Mr. Claus said what was needed was immediate action the further delay on this would just increase the cost of repairs. He said it was at the margin now but whatever you put in to you would get back because of where the house is, but if it goes on much longer you have more cost so action is required immediately. Ms. Keels said she went to Community Action and they said she had to physically be in the house before they could help. Chairman Richard told Ms. Keels that she may want to ask for an exception to the rule. Chairman Richard said there was no action 
Minutes

Zoning Commission

August 28, 2009

Page 4

to be taken at this time and they would wait for the Board of Review to make its recommendation. Ms. Schwartz said the Board was scheduled to make a recommendation at its September meeting and a hearing would be scheduled for the Commission’s September meeting. 
Ms. Douglas made a motion to convene to Executive Session. Mr. Johnson seconded. A vote was called and the motion carried unanimously.

Item 5:

Proposed Executive Session in accordance with Title 25, Section 307 (B)(4), to discuss the status of Case No. CJ-2006-3558, Musgrove Mill, L.L.C. v. Capitol-Medical Center Improvement and Zoning Commission, Oklahoma County District Court, with the Commission’s attorney’s. 

Mr. Boughton said since this case started in 2006 and there were new Board member that didn’t know about the case and asked if there was a need to review. Chairman Richard said yes. Mr. Boughton explained that Justice Watt and Justice Kauger made application for a multi-family dwelling that was denied. He said later Justice Kauger constructed a single family dwelling. Mr. Boughton said Justice Watt filed a law suite in District Court in 2006 and the Judge as well as the Appellate Judge ruled in the Commission favor. He said a petition was filed with the Supreme Court and 8 of the 9 Justice recused themselves. He said Justice Reif who was only on the Court for about a month did not disqualify himself. 
Mr. Boughton said Justice Reif appointed 8 temporary Justices and there were oral argument. He said they came back with a ruling which said they couldn’t tell from the record whether or not the Commission had complied with the Administrative Procedures Act when they enacted their rules and regulations and filed their Master Plan with the County Clerk’s Office. Mr. Boughton said this was something that was not raised by any brief or by any party and they asked for a rehearing and it was denied. Mr. Boughton said it was remanded back to the District Court to reopen the case and back with Judge Dixon to decide whether or not the Commission complied with the Administrative Procedures Act.
Mr. Boughton said when the Commission started back in the 50’s there was no APA and subsequent to that, the Commission in 1974 asked for an Opinion from the Attorney General after the APA had been enacted as to whether or not the Commission had to comply with the Act. He said the Attorney General’s Office issued an Official Opinion that said no, you do not have to that your rules and Enabling Statutes were more specific than the APA and therefore follow your rules and go ahead and publish and hold hearings. Mr. Boughton said they presented that in the Petition and the Court refused to hear it, so the next step would be to go back to Judge Dixon where they would raise the same argument. He said the hearing was set for next week.

Chairman Richard asked if Judge Watt’s argument was that the Commission’s rules were invalid and therefore they don’t apply. Mr. Boughton said yes. Chairman Richard asked how were the rules invalid?

Minutes

Zoning Commission

August 28, 2009

Page 5

Mr. Boughton said this was not briefed this was something that came from the temporary Supreme Court. Mr. Boughton said the Attorney General’s Opinion was binding until overruled by a court of law.  Ms. Douglas made a motion to return to open session. Mr. Johnson seconded. A vote was called and the motion carried unanimously. 
Chairman Richard asked if there were any reports from the Commissioners or Director. Chairman Richard said he wanted to go back for a moment to Ms. Keels’ issue and asked Ms. Martin if she would make sure she got the information to Ms. Keels regarding reverse mortgages. Mr. Claus said she has been her own worst enemy by her failure to act. Mr. Greenhaw said he felt a bank would give her a one year loan for up to $40,000 in its current condition. Ms. Martin said Ms. Keels told her the banks said due to the condition of the house, they would not in all likelihood loan her the money to fix just the roof they would prefer the entire house be repaired. Mr. Claus said the reverse mortgage was probably the only route she could take they would take the entire house for security. Mr. Greenhaw said with any construction loan the bank would be extremely interested in where its money was going so they would have a loan officer or administrator looking at every expense through the process. Ms. McGovern said maybe they would line up the contractors. Ms. Douglas said you have to find the right bank and her bank may not do reverse mortgages. Mr. Manzelli said it was increasing difficult in today’s environment to find a bank that would want to take this commitment because there are much better risk for their money. Mr. Claus said you would need someone with a philanthropic interest. Ms. McGovern asked if there were private contractor that might be interested in restoring houses and maybe take a lien on the house. Mr. Johnson said she may want to put it up for sale someone may be able to pay enough for it that they can repair it and get a return on the investment. He said as hard as it was for her to get to that point he thought the Commission was doing her more harm by waiting because of the economy. Chairman Richard said the point might be to force the action and stop delaying. 
Ms. Douglas said she thought the Commission needed to do everything they could to help her, but she did think the Commission was in danger of overstepping its appropriate role and boundary if the Commission engages in this process too far. She said that was why she was thinking someone on one of the advisory boards could give her guidance. Mr. Claus said she was right, and if Ms. Keels didn’t have the ability to work this out and if someone external to the Commission could provide options and say make a decision and she can’t, then the Commission’s hand is forced to look at the facts of the case. He said the Commission had to be objective. 
Being no further business, the meeting was Adjourned. 
Minutes
Zoning Commission

August 28, 2009

Page 6

___________________________________

John Richard, Chairman

The Minutes of the August 28, 2009 meeting have been reviewed and are presented for your approval.

_____________________________________

Denise Martin, Administrative Officer

NOTICE HAS BEEN FILED WITH SECRETARY OF STATE IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE 1977 OPEN MEETING LAW. (Title 25, Sections 301-314 of the Oklahoma Statutes.)

